
           
The City of Muskogee encourages participation from all its citizens in public meetings. If participation is not possible due to a disability,
notify the City Clerk, in writing, at least forty-eight hours prior to the scheduled meeting and necessary accommodations will be made (ADA
28 CFR/36).

Council Rules of Decorum limit citizen comments on agenda items and public hearings to five (5) minutes and general comments for
non-agenda items to three (3) minutes.  Any person desiring to address the Council during such period is required to sign in with the City Clerk
prior to the Council meeting between 6:30 p.m. and 6:45 p.m. on the third floor of City Hall or anytime between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. in the
Office of the City Clerk. They shall provide their name, address and specify the agenda item they wish to address. Remarks shall be directed to
the matter being considered and the speaker is allowed to speak only one time. If written materials are to be submitted twelve (12) copies
should be made available, and may not be returned.

 

AMENDED
AGENDA

MUSKOGEE CITY COUNCIL
September 11, 2017

 
 

REGULAR SESSION -7:00 P.M., 3RD FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS MUNICIPAL BUILDING,
229 W. OKMULGEE, MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA

INVOCATION - COUNCILMEMBER IVORY VANN

FLAG SALUTE - MAYOR BOB COBURN

ROLL CALL - MAYOR BOB COBURN

           

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION August 28, 2017
 

CONSENT AGENDA
 

The following items are considered to be routine by the City Council and will not be read
aloud. The Consent Agenda will be enacted with one motion and should discussion be desired
on an item, that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda prior to action and
considered separately prior to the Regular Agenda.
 
 

1. Approval of claims for all city departments August 17, 2017 through August 30, 2017.
 

2. Approval of the purchase of a Gradall Telescoping Excavator from Kirby Smith Machinery, Inc.
in the amount of $342,500.60 under the National Joint Powers Alliance (NJPA) Purchasing
Agreement, or take other necessary action. (Greg Riley)

 

3. Approval of lowest bid in the amount of $0.03 per dekatherm for the purchase of Natural Gas for



3. Approval of lowest bid in the amount of $0.03 per dekatherm for the purchase of Natural Gas for
eight (8) facilities, (Muskogee Civic Center, Central Fire Department, Pollution Control Plant,
Water Treatment Plant, Muskogee Teen Center, Muskogee Swim and Fitness, Fleet, and
City Hall) to Tiger Natural Gas, Inc., or take any other necessary action. (Gary Garvin)

 

4. Approval of awarding contracts to the best bidder, Dirt Work Done Right, LLC, in the amount of
$2.50 per square foot for demolition of dilapidated structures, and low bidder Whittinghill
Disposal Service, Inc., in the amount of $15.95 per cubic yard for the trash, junk, and debris
clearance project under the Community Development Block Grant Demolition and Clearance
Projects Bid Group 38, or take other necessary action. (Tish Callahan)

 

5. Approval of the use of fiscal year 2014 Capital Improvement sales tax funds in the amount of
$202,434.00 for airport projects, repairs, and refurbishment, or take other necessary
action. (Drew Saffell)   
 

 

REGULAR AGENDA
 

6. Hold a Public Hearing and take action on the approval of Ordinance 4026-A to close North 5th
Street located between Okmulgee Avenue and Broadway Avenue, more particularly described in
the Ordinance, providing for severability and setting an effective date, or take other necessary
action. (Gary D. Garvin)

 

  NORTH FIFTH STREET LYING BETWEEN BLOCK 12, AND BLOCK 9, IN THE
ORIGINAL TOWN SITE OF MUSKOGEE (MOT), CITY OF MUSKOGEE, ACCORDING
TO THE OFFICIAL PLAT THEREOF, LOCATED IN THE NORTHWEST QUARTER
(NW1/4) OF SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 15 NORTH, RANGE 18 EAST, MUSKOGEE
COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA.

 

7. Consider approval to accept the State of Oklahoma Emergency Management Performance Grant
(EMPG) in the amount of $25,000 to be used to fund Emergency Management Operations, or
take other necessary action. (Chad Farmer)

 

RECOGNIZE CITIZENS WISHING TO SPEAK TO THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL.

Council Rules of Decorum limit citizen comments to three (3) minutes. Any person desiring to
speak is required to sign-in with the City Clerk, provide their name, address, and the
particular issue they wish to address. Under Oklahoma law, the Council Members are
prohibited from discussing or taking any action on items not on today’s agenda. If written
materials are to be submitted to the Council twelve (12) copies should be made available, and
may not be returned.
 

ADJOURN
 



   
Regular City Council           
Meeting Date: 09/11/2017  
Initiator: Ashley Wallace, Office Adm 1
Department: City Clerk
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION August 28, 2017

BACKGROUND:

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
08-28-2017 ccmin 



MINUTES
 

 
OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE,

OKLAHOMA, MET IN REGULAR SESSION, IN
THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS OF CITY HALL

MONDAY, AUGUST 28, 2017
 

The Council of the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma, met in Regular Session in Council Chambers of City
Hall, Monday, August 28, 2017, at 7:00 p.m., with Mayor Coburn presiding.
Invocation was given by Councilmember Derrick Reed
 
Flag Salute was led by Mayor Bob Coburn
 
Meeting was called to order by Mayor John R. Coburn and the City Clerk called the roll as follows:
 

Present: Mayor John R. Coburn; Deputy Mayor James Gulley; Councilmember Janey Boydston;
Councilmember Patrick Cale; Councilmember Marlon Coleman; Councilmember Dan Hall;
Councilmember Wayne Johnson; Councilmember Derrick Reed; Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Staff
Present:

Mike Miller, City Manager; Mike Stewart, Asst City Manager; Roy Tucker, City Attorney;
Tammy L. Tracy, City Clerk; Gary Garvin, City Planner; Greg Riley, Public Works Director;
Matthew Beese, Assistant City Attorney; Michael O'Dell, Fire Chief; Kelly Plunkett, Human
Resources Director; Rex Eskridge, Police Chief 

               
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL CALL AUGUST 8, 2017 AND CITY
COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION AUGUST 14, 2017

  

 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Janey Boydston, seconded by Councilmember

Dan Hall  to approve Special Call City Council Minutes August 8, 2017, and Regular
Session City Council Minutes August 14, 2017. 

  AYE:  Mayor John R. Coburn, Deputy Mayor James Gulley, Councilmember Janey
Boydston, Councilmember Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman,
Councilmember Dan Hall, Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember
Derrick Reed, Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
CONSENT AGENDA

 
  Motion was made by Deputy Mayor James Gulley, seconded by Councilmember Dan

Hall to approve Consent Agenda. 

  AYE:  Mayor John R. Coburn, Deputy Mayor James Gulley, Councilmember Janey
Boydston, Councilmember Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman,
Councilmember Dan Hall, Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember
Derrick Reed, Councilmember Ivory Vann 



Carried - Unanimously 

 
The following items are considered to be routine by the City Council and will not be read
aloud. The Consent Agenda will be enacted with one motion and should discussion be desired
on an item, that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda prior to action and
considered separately prior to the Regular Agenda.
 

 
1 Approve claims for all city departments August 2, 2017 through August 16, 2017.   
 
2 Approve to accept the lowest and best bids from Simpson Carpentry in the amount of

$26,300.00 to repair two (2) structures; Tom Crabtree in the amount of $21,575.00 for two
(2) structures; and Tedder's Roofing in the amount of $16,600.00 to repair one (1)
structure, for a total of $64,475.00 to repair a total of five (5) structures through the
Muskogee Rehabilitation and Revitalization Program, or take other necessary action.
(Gary D. Garvin)

  

 
3 Approve the best bid from Lot Maintenance of Oklahoma in the amount of $16,487.40

each for a total of  $32,974.80 for the purchase of two (2) Schulte FX1800 Heavy Duty 15'
Rotary Cutters (brush hogs) for the Public Works- Environmental Control Division for
Fiscal Year 2017-2018, or take other necessary action. (Robert Swepston)

  

 
4 Approve Resolution #2703 declaring two (2) parcels of property, more particularly

described in the resolution, as surplus to the needs of the City and authorize the
conveyance of said properties, or take other necessary action. (Gary D. Garvin)

  

 
5 Approve the appointment of Donald Wardlow to serve a three (3) year term on the War

Memorial Trust Authority beginning September 1, 2017, and ending on August 31, 2020,
replacing Lanny Cartwright, or take other necessary action. (Councilmember Wayne
Johnson)

  

 
REGULAR AGENDA

 
6 Hold a Public Hearing and take action on the approval of Ordinance 4025-A rezoning the

property located at 2400 N. Country Club Road (Muskogee Golf Club), more particularly
described in Ordinance 4025-A, from "A" Agricultural District to "PUD" Planned Unit
Development District, and if approved authorize Staff to revise the Official Zoning Map of
the City to reflect said change, or take other necessary action. (Gary D. Garvin)

Mayor Bob Coburn opened the Public Hearing.

Planning Director Gary Garvin stated the applicants, Muskogee Golf Club, LLC., are
requesting the property located at 2400 N. Country Club Road to be rezoned from "A"
Agricultural  District to "PUD" Planned Unit Development District to allow the property
to be developed residentially (27 Single-Family Dwellings)

The Planned Unit Development District (PUD) is intended to accommodate all types of
residential and/or commercial development while ensuring compatibility with the

  



residential and/or commercial development while ensuring compatibility with the
surrounding land uses.  A "PUD" development tends to depart from the strict enforcement
of the Zoning Regulations to allow flexibility and encourage a more efficient use of the
land.  The development must conform to the approved preliminary plat (site plan), see
attachment, and any major change to the site plan (preliminary plat) will require going
through the rezoning process again for approval.
 
The applicant’s preliminary plat was recommended for approval by the Subdivision
Review Committee on August 1, 2017.  The proposed development is located at the
entrance to the Country Club Golf Course (2400 N. Country Club Road).  The applicant is
proposing 27 single-family dwellings to be located on the property (see attached
elevations/building design).  The applicants will be installing all infrastructure (water,
sewer, storm water, private streets) improvements to serve the proposed development.  
Sidewalks/golf cart paths will be provided around the perimeter of the development.  The
surrounding area is developed residentially (single-family dwellings) and the existing golf
course.  The property complies with the regulations for the “PUD” District.

Notices have been sent to the property owners within 300 foot radius, as required, and
published in the newspaper twenty (20) days prior to the Public Hearing. A Public
Hearing will be held on the following days:

August 21, 2017 at 9:00 a.m.: City of Muskogee Planning & Zoning Commission
August 22, 2017 at 4:00 p.m.: Public Works Committee
August 28, 2017 at 7:00 p.m. Muskogee City Council Meeting.

Councilmember Patrick Cale asked Planning Director Gary Garvin if the drainage map he
was referencing had been amended. 

Planning Director Gary Garvin stated that earlier that morning, after meeting with
Engineer Greg Armstrong, the arch culvert had been changed.  One of the concerns was
the depth needed for the culvert.  The new design will not have any impact on the abutting
properties.  The new design is the most capable for handling the water flow.

Councilmember Dan Hall asked where the majority of the water would flow.

Mr. Garvin stated part of the water is going to travel south down the ditch on Country
Club Rd.  The water flowing north will go to a retention pond the Country Club will be
installing which will decrease the water flowing south and increase water flowing north. 
Mr. Garvin stated the City is looking at installing sidewalks in the area at the same time as
the storm water repairs to allow pedestrian traffic.

Applicant Mike Ross gave an overview of Muskogee Golf Course, LLC and spoke in
regards to rezoning the property located at 2400 N. Country Club Rd. (Muskogee Golf
Course, LLC).  He stated the management group will recommend to the ownership group
that the homes will have a 1,600 square foot minimum, can be two (2) stories, 80%
brick/rock/stucco, and cannot have privacy or chain link fencing (requirements being
a wrought iron fence).

Councilmember Marlon Coleman stated he would like to see something in writing
regarding the covenant instead of hoping owners will abide by the recommendations.



Mr. Garvin stated the City does not enforce approved covenants so they are not looked at
for any development.

Bob Buckley, 2800 Fort Davis Dr., stated he is an avid golfer who has been a long time
dues payer.  He is not part of the ownership group, but glad there is one.  Several years ago
the Country Club was on the verge of closing and the ownership group stepped up, used
their money, and put a lot of hard work into keeping the golf course open.  He does not see
any negatives by doing this project.  It is a beautiful golf course and it is going to be
constructed in good taste.  This project will be a plus for the Country Club owners and the
City of Muskogee.

Joey Dills, 7315 S. Gary Pl., Tulsa OK, stated Muskogee was his home until he left for
college.  He does not live in Muskogee now, but is one of the owners in the ownership
group.  His desire after he retires is to return to Muskogee and own one of the patio homes
being built.

William Fillman, 4001 Putter Pl., stated he was born and raised in Muskogee.  He left
while he was in the military and returned to Muskogee as the Director of the Veteran's
Administration (VA) Regional Office.  In his last nine (9) years he was able to bring in
over 1,000 jobs to the VA Regional Office in Muskogee.  Unfortunately not all of those
people were able to find homes in Muskogee, at least the type of homes they were looking
for.  He feels this addition will greatly enhance Muskogee and bring people to the City of
Muskogee.  Mr. Fillman stated just because you own a home on the golf course does not
mean you have the right to always have that view.  He feels this item should pass and
appreciates the Mayor's support. 

Leisha Haworth, 2711 N. Country Club Dr., stated she is a former member and
stockholder of Muskogee Country Club, LLC, and she was also a former economic
developer for the City of Muskogee.  She knows first hand how critical it is to have the
wonderful Muskogee Golf Course and how to utilize it in creating and maintaining
economic development for the City both in recruitment and retention for business of all
kinds.  As a life long homeowner growing up and living across the street from the golf
course, she is a little reluctant to see a new housing development, but she also understands
the need for it.  Ms. Haworth stated she would like to know if property valuations were
available to the public and if the valuation will include quantifiable and qualifiable data so
homeowners can know and understand how it affects the property in the nearby vicinity. 
Ms. Haworth handed packets to the Councilmembers which included a Google Earth
picture of her home to show the location of her home in reference to the golf course.  She
stated there are ponds directly across the street that she loves, until it rains.  When it rains
it causes the ponds to overflow and forces the water into her front yard.  The water can get
as high as five (5) to seven (7) feet and 100 yards long by 100 yards wide.  This is creating
a lot of physical damage to her property.  Ms. Haworth stated she would like to know if the
engineering studies focus on alleviating the potential flooding and runoff of the new
development or will this runoff go to the existing retention ponds and how will the City
handle this potential flooding.

Councilmember Patrick Cale asked Ms. Haworth if the retaining wall in her front yard
would be cause for the water pooling and not draining.

Ms. Haworth stated she could not give a definite answer, but she can say that the water
overflowing from the storm water drains is causing a lot of the problem.



Councilmember Patrick Cale asked Assistant City Manager Mike Stewart if the City has
looked at the drainage problem on the north ridge where Ms. Haworth's house is located.

Mr. Stewart stated he agrees there is a problem on the north ridge, but does not feel the
new retention pond is going to make it worse or better.  The drainage issue is something
the City will need to look into.

Mayor Bob Coburn stated he would like to clarify that they are referring to stormwater and
not sanitary sewer water drainage issues.

Councilmember Ivory Vann stated he took a tour of the Country Club neighborhood and
golf course and saw that the drainage area around Ms. Haworth's house was blocked by
dirt and debris.  Mr. Vann stated that applicant, Mike Ross, cleaned the drainage grate. 
Mr. Vann thanked Mr. Ross for being a man of his word and for cleaning the drainage
grate and informed Ms. Haworth this may help with some of her drainage problems.

Theresa Reutlinger, 2500 Shelby Ct., stated she feels like the City should require a
covenant for legal purposes instead of trusting someone's "word".  She recommended the
City hire a non biased appraiser (someone not living in the City) of Muskogee to appraise
the homes in the Country Club neighborhood.  She feels the fencing requirements still
need to be dealt with and suggested this item be tabled.

Planning Director Gary Garvin stated Chris Roland with Sooner State Appraisal gave him
a copy of the plan specifications to anticipate what affect this project will have on property
values he explained.  We cannot be 100% sure of what affect this will have until the
property is developed, bought, and sold, so we had to go by a professional opinion.  Mr.
Garvin stated Mr. Roland had no affiliation with the golf course.  If someone is needing
the appraisal information they can contact the appraiser.

Justin Stout, 3600 Country Club Dr., stated he would like to know if any other independent
appraisers were contacted or was it just Mr. Roland, and was Mr. Roland informed there
would be a direct impact to the properties to the west or was the neighborhood conducted
globally.  Mr. Stout stated his problem with this project is the affect it has on the golf
course itself and the overall number of lots, the effect this will have on neighboring
properties to the west in particular, and the tactics being used to get them passed.  He
agrees the golf course is an asset to the City and should be preserved, and stated the course
and game have changed over time due to technology and human strength.  He feels this
project will not allow for the course to be lengthened and does not know that the project
will create growth.

Councilmember Dan Hall asked Mr. Garvin if all the lots are up to code and if they are
buildable lots.

Planning Director Gary Garvin stated the City is not making the lots smaller to fit the new
homes, but the "PUD" will allow smaller lots and will meet the requirements of the "PUD"
Ordinance and will limit the number of homes being built to 27.  A "PUD" allows for the
homes to be a part of the golf course and not just the traditional layout like the "R-1"
residential homes.

Councilmember Dan Hall stated the Country Club has changed a lot over the years and



people in the neighborhood have always worried that these changes will affect the values
of the homes, but the reality is people came together to buy the property and are wanting
to build much needed houses.  The men that purchased the property have the right to
develop the property and as a Councilmember, Mr. Hall does not feel like he has the right
to tell the men "no".

Councilmember Ivory Vann asked applicant Mike Ross if the Country Club was doing
well would they even be considering building homes on the golf course and will it take all
27 homes to get the golf course out of debt. 

Applicant Mike Ross stated these homes are being built to help with the debt, but will not
get them out of debt.

Councilmember Dan Hall stated there will always be recurring debt at the golf course and
you do not get out of debt by owning a golf course.

Applicant Mike Ross stated if they can reduce their debt and possibly give some of the
investors some of their money back, he feels they can maintain the future of the golf
course. 

Mayor Bob Coburn closed the Public Hearing.
 
  Motion was made by Deputy Mayor James Gulley, seconded by Councilmember Dan

Hall to approve Ordinance 4025-A rezoning the property located at 2400 N. Country
Club Road (Muskogee Golf Club), more particularly described in Ordinance 4025-A,
from "A" Agricultural District to "PUD" Planned Unit Development District. 

  AYE:  Mayor John R. Coburn, Deputy Mayor James Gulley, Councilmember Janey
Boydston, Councilmember Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman,
Councilmember Dan Hall, Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember
Derrick Reed, Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
7 Consider approval of the Preliminary Plat of Maxwell Villas Addition, consisting of

twenty-seven (27) lots on 6.64 acres, located at 2400 N. Country Club Road (Muskogee
Golf Club), or take other necessary action. (Gary D. Garvin)

Planning Director Gary Garvin stated the applicant, Muskogee Golf Club, LLC, has
indicated the property is being platted into twenty-seven (27) lots on 6.64 acres to allow
the property to be developed residentially.  The applicant is proposing to
build single-family dwellings on the property and rezone the property as a Planned Unit
Development (PUD).   The rezoning will be subject to an approved site plan.  The
preliminary plat serves as the site plan for PUD developments. 

  

 
  Motion was made by Deputy Mayor James Gulley, seconded by Councilmember Dan

Hall to approve  Preliminary Plat of Maxwell Villas Addition, consisting of
twenty-seven (27) lots on 6.64 acres, located at 2400 N. Country Club Road
(Muskogee Golf Club). 

  AYE:  Mayor John R. Coburn, Deputy Mayor James Gulley, Councilmember Janey



  AYE:  Mayor John R. Coburn, Deputy Mayor James Gulley, Councilmember Janey
Boydston, Councilmember Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman,
Councilmember Dan Hall, Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember
Derrick Reed, Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
8 Consider approval of Emergency Contract with KBC Construction for Pollution Control

repairs at the raw water pump station, or take other necessary action. (Greg Riley)

Public Works Direct Greg Riley stated this contract will allow for the emergency
installation of a basket screen and hoist.  The raw water pump station has three (3) large
pumps and two (2) small pumps that transfer the raw water sewage into the treatment
plant.  In May of this year we completed repair on one of the large pumps and had it
installed.  At that time we had two large pumps up and running during a significant storm
event.  Some lumber debris came into the station through the 72 inch line that feeds it and
knocked out both pumps within forty minutes of having the newly repaired pump in
operation.  The repairs to that pump cost approximately $20,000.00 and we have had it
repaired again from the aforementioned damage which cost approximately $30,000.00. 
The basket screen, when installed will keep such debris out of the pumps and significantly
reduce the risk of this happening again.  We are currently running the station off of the
smaller pumps and are having overflow issues in larger rain events.  The repair on
one (1) of the large pumps is nearly complete and see the need for this screen to be in place
ASAP to avoid another breakdown.  We have looked into the quoted contract prices and
believe that we have a good price and this contract will save us 90 days over going out for
bid.  This work will be reimbursed out of the OWRB loan as part of the budgeted plant
repairs in that loan. 

Jay Updike with Holloway, Updike, and Bellen gave a presentation.

Mayor Bob Coburn asked Mr. Updike if the City was vulnerable with the number of
pumps that are down right now.

Jay Updike stated yes, out of five (5) pumps, the larger pumps are completely out and two
(2) of the smaller pumps are not working.

City Manager Mike Miller stated this is an immediate need and the City is trying to
address the issue as quickly and efficiently as possible.  He emphasized that even though
they are working quickly, they are also being efficient to make sure the City pays the best
price possible.  Mr. Miller stated going through Council allows them to be reimbursed by
the Oklahoma Water Resources Board (OWRB) because this is a large expense.  Part of
the loan had three (3) million dollars available for pollution plant improvements.

  

 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Dan Hall, seconded by Councilmember Wayne

Johnson to approve an Emergency Contract with KBC Construction for Pollution
Control repairs at the raw water pump station. 

  AYE:  Mayor John R. Coburn, Deputy Mayor James Gulley, Councilmember Janey
Boydston, Councilmember Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman,
Councilmember Dan Hall, Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember
Derrick Reed, Councilmember Ivory Vann 



Carried - Unanimously 

 
9 Consider Approval of Ordinance 3972-A amending the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma

Code of Ordinances, Section 2-136, Application Of Uniform Method Of Filling Vacancies
On Board And Commissions,  Public Trusts Or Other Entities; Within Article V, Boards
And Commissions, Division 1, Generally; Providing For The Power Of Appointment
Specific To Each Board, Commission, Public Trust Or Entity; Providing For Repealer,
Severability, And Setting An Effective Date. (Roy D. Tucker)

City Attorney Roy D. Tucker stated on July 13, 2015, the City Council created Section
2-136. This section modified the manner in which appointments to boards and
commissions were made by allowing each board vacancy to be appointed from the list
within each cycle. Within each cycle there were nine (9) members, each member had the
power of appointment for any vacancy that arose, as it arose. This method has created
some concern because it certain instances one (1) member may have multiple
appointments on one (1) board. For example, A councilor may fill a vacancy on the Board
of Adjustments, and then two (2) years later during the next vacancy, it may be that same
Councilor’s turn in the cycle to appoint another member.  The proposed amendment to the
ordinance corrects this. If adopted, each member of the Council would have
one (1) appointment to all boards, trusts and commissions in cases where the board has
nine (9) members. In cases where a board has fewer than nine (9), such as Urban Renewal
Authority, five (5) members will each appoint a member, then upon the next vacancy, the
next Councilmember who has not exercised an appointment will have an opportunity until
all nine (9) members have made one (1) appointment.

  

 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Dan Hall, seconded by Councilmember Patrick

Cale to approve Ordinance 3972-A amending the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma
Code of Ordinances, Section 2-136, Application Of Uniform Method Of Filling
Vacancies On Board And Commissions,  Public Trusts Or Other Entities;
Within Article V, Boards And Commissions, Division 1, Generally; Providing
For The Power Of Appointment Specific To Each Board, Commission, Public
Trust Or Entity; Providing For Repealer, Severability, And Setting An Effective
Date.

  AYE:  Mayor John R. Coburn, Deputy Mayor James Gulley, Councilmember Janey
Boydston, Councilmember Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman,
Councilmember Dan Hall, Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember
Derrick Reed, Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
RECOGNIZE CITIZENS WISHING TO SPEAK TO THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL.

Council Rules of Decorum limit citizen comments to three (3) minutes. Any person desiring to
speak is required to sign-in with the City Clerk, provide their name, address, and the
particular issue they wish to address. Under Oklahoma law, the Council Members are
prohibited from discussing or taking any action on items not on today’s agenda. If written
materials are to be submitted to the Council twelve (12) copies should be made available, and
may not be returned.



Stephen Ezell, 6121 S. 6th St. E., stated while walking in the mall he saw a shirt making a
derogatory statement directed at the police.  Mr. Ezell stated the men and women of the Muskogee
Police Department sacrifice their lives to help keep us safe.  He feels when people see law
enforcement they should thank them for their service and for keeping the City safe.

Theresa Reutlinger, 2500 Shelby Ct., asked City Attorney Roy D. Tucker why there are the same
people on the Public Works Committee and City Council and one (1) that is also on the Planning
Committee.

City Attorney Roy D. Tucker stated it is required by Ordinance that there be a Councilmember on
the Planning Committee.  The Planning Committee and City Council are where items get passed. 
The Finance Committee and Public Works Committee is a working committee where the items are
discussed to be considered by the City Council, so they are hearing the item twice, once during the
working Committee meeting and again if it eligible to be passed and effective at that time.

Theresa Reutlinger, asked Mr. Tucker if it is possible to have less meetings during the week so
people have time to research meeting items.

Mr. Tucker stated this can be done in the discretion to be set up by Ordinance.

Councilmember Derrick Reed, 550 S. 7th St., stated he was drafted by Councilmember Ivory Vann
to speak.  Mr. Reed stated Councilmember Ivory Vann had a project for the Rotary Park located on
South 24th St.  Mr. Vann contacted Parks and Recreation to have bleachers built at the park, but
was informed that Parks and Recreation did not have the funds for this project.  Mr. Vann also had
a vision of the park having a barbeque grill on site.  Within one (1) hour Mr. Vann raised over
$590.00 in personal donations for the new barbeque grill and for Rotary Park to have the
same luxury as other parks in the community.  Mr. Reed wanted to take the opportunity to
acknowledge and thank those who supported getting a grill for the Rotary Park area that was not
able to be funded through the City.

City Manager Mike Miller stated that when there is a parks project, the City does what they can
with the budget and the citizens and community get involved in private fund raising to make the
projects even better and they are thankful for it.

Councilmember Ivory Vann, 4338 Columbus St., stated he would like to thank the City department
heads and City employees for making a difference in the City. 

 
10 Consider an Executive Session to discuss and take possible action on the following:
 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Dan Hall, seconded by Councilmember Janey

Boydston  to approve an Executive Session. 

  AYE:  Mayor John R. Coburn, Deputy Mayor James Gulley, Councilmember Janey
Boydston, Councilmember Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman,
Councilmember Dan Hall, Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember
Derrick Reed, Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
A Pursuant to Section 307B.2, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in Executive   



A Pursuant to Section 307B.2, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in Executive
Session to discuss negotiations with the Fraternal Order of Police, Lodge No. 95, and if
necessary, take appropriate action in open session. (Kelly Plunkett)

  

 
B Pursuant to Section 307B.2, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in Executive

Session to discuss negotiations with the International Association of Fire Fighters, Local
No. 57, and if necessary, take appropriate action in open session. (Kelly Plunkett)

  

 
C Pursuant to Section 307B.2, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in Executive

Session to discuss negotiations with the American Federation of State, County and
Municipal Employees, Local #2465, and if necessary, take appropriate action in open
session. (Kelly Plunkett)

  

 
D Pursuant to Section 307B.4, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in Executive

Session to discuss the worker’s compensation claim of Robert Conley, and if necessary,
take appropriate action in open session. (Roy D. Tucker) 

  

 
E Pursuant to Section 307B.4, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in Executive

Session to discuss the worker’s compensation claim of Michelle Ogden, and if necessary,
take appropriate action in open session. (Roy D. Tucker)

Council reconvened to Regular Session at 9:35 p.m.  The meeting was called to order by
Mayor Bob Coburn and the City Clerk Called Roll as follows:

Members Present:  Mayor Bob Coburn, Deputy Mayor James Gulley, Councilmembers;
Janey Boydston, Marlon Coleman, Dan Hall, Derrick Reed, Ivory Vann, Patrick Cale

(No Action Taken):  Pursuant to Section 307B.2, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider
convening in Executive Session to discuss negotiations with the Fraternal Order of Police,
Lodge No. 95, and if necessary, take appropriate action in open session. (Kelly Plunkett)

Pursuant to Section 307B.2, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in Executive
Session to discuss negotiations with the International Association of Fire Fighters, Local
No. 57, and if necessary, take appropriate action in open session. (Kelly Plunkett)

Motion was made by Councilmember Wayne Johnson, seconded by Councilmember Dan
Hall to approve the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the International
Association of Fire Fighters (IAFF), Local No. 57, and the City of Muskogee, related to
vacation block scheduling.

AYE:  Mayor Bob Coburn, Deputy Mayor James Gulley, Councilmembers; Janey
Boydston, Marlon Coleman, Dan Hall, Patrick Cale, Derrick Reed, Ivory Vann
Carried - Unanimously

(No Action Taken):  Pursuant to Section 307B.2, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider
convening in Executive Session to discuss negotiations with the American Federation of
State, County and Municipal Employees, Local #2465, and if necessary, take appropriate
action in open session. (Kelly Plunkett)

Pursuant to Section 307B.4, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in Executive

  



Session to discuss the worker’s compensation claim of Robert Conley, and if necessary,
take appropriate action in open session. (Roy D. Tucker)

Motion was made by Councilmember Janey Boydston, seconded by Councilmember Dan
Hall to approve the Worker's Compensation claim of Robert Conley in the amount of
$11,500.00.

AYE:  Mayor Bob Coburn, Deputy Mayor James Gulley, Councilmembers; Janey
Boydston, Marlon Coleman, Dan Hall, Patrick Cale, Derrick Reed, Ivory Vann
Carried - Unanimously

Pursuant to Section 307B.4, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in Executive
Session to discuss the worker’s compensation claim of Michelle Ogden, and if necessary,
take appropriate action in open session. (Roy D. Tucker)

Motion was made by Councilmember Dan Hall, seconded by Councilmember Janey
Boydston to approve vesting the City Attorney with full settlement authority to handle the
claims of Michelle Ogden at the upcoming mediation, within the range discussed during
Executive Session.

AYE:  Mayor Bob Coburn, Deputy Mayor James Gulley, Councilmembers; Janey
Boydston, Marlon Coleman, Dan Hall, Patrick Cale, Derrick Reed, Ivory Vann
Carried - Unanimously
    

 
ADJOURN

 

__________________________________
JOHN R. COBURN, MAYOR

 
 
 
 

_______________________________
TAMMY L. TRACY, CITY CLERK

 
 



   
Regular City Council 1.           
Meeting Date: 09/11/2017  
Initiator: Karen Felts, Office Administrator
Department: Purchasing
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval of claims for all city departments August 17, 2017 through August 30, 2017.

BACKGROUND:

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Claims 8.17.17 - 8.30.17 



















   
Regular City Council 2.           
Meeting Date: 09/11/2017  
Submitted For:  Greg Riley, Public Works  Initiator: Greg Riley, Public

Works Director
Department: Purchasing
Staff Information Source: Greg Riley, Director of Public Works, Jim Wixom, Assistant Director of

Public Works-Operations, David Garner, Street Superintendent, Robert
Swepston, Director of Fleet Management, Donnie Wimbley, Purchasing
Director 

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval of the purchase of a Gradall Telescoping Excavator from Kirby Smith Machinery, Inc. in the
amount of $342,500.60 under the National Joint Powers Alliance (NJPA) Purchasing Agreement, or take
other necessary action. (Greg Riley)

BACKGROUND:
The Street Department has had a Gradall Telescoping Excavator for over 40 years and it is one of our
most important pieces of equipment.  It is used almost daily to clean and grade ditches as well as other
necessary tasks.  The current machine is a 2004 model that is showing its age and needs to be replaced. 
There is only one competing vendor for the Gradall which is Badger.  Badger only offers a smaller
machine that will not meet our needs and the closest vendor is in Louisiana which makes it not a viable
option.  Since this will be a sole source purchase that is not part of the State Bid, we found a different
avenue for purchase, the National Joint Powers Alliance (NJPA) which is a national purchasing
agreement.  The City is a member of the Alliance and has used it for smaller purchases in the past.  This
alliance gives us a comfortable price that is lower than the vendor's original quote to the City.  This
purchase was approved as part of the OWRB Loan and was budgeted at $350,000.  We plan on sending
the old machine to an auction to maximize its sale price. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approval of purchase of Gradall Telescoping Excavator from Kirby Smith Machinery, Inc. in the
amount of $342,500.60.

Fiscal Impact

FUNDING SOURCE:
This purchase will be paid for out of the OWRB Loan.  Account # 500-6560-432.62-95.
 

FUNDING SOURCE:
500-6560-432.62-95

Attachments
Gradall Quote 
NJPA Certification 



NJPA Certification 







City of Muskogee
Member #17934



   
Regular City Council 3.           
Meeting Date: 09/11/2017  
Initiator: Karen Felts, Office Administrator
Department: Purchasing
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval of lowest bid in the amount of $0.03 per dekatherm for the purchase of Natural Gas for eight
(8) facilities, (Muskogee Civic Center, Central Fire Department, Pollution Control Plant, Water
Treatment Plant, Muskogee Teen Center, Muskogee Swim and Fitness, Fleet, and City Hall) to Tiger
Natural Gas, Inc., or take any other necessary action. (Gary Garvin)

BACKGROUND:
The City has 8 facilities that use more than 900 dekatherms and will be part of this contract (Muskogee
Civic Center, Central Fire Department, Pollution Control Plant, Water Treatment Plant, Muskogee Teen
Center, Muskogee Swim and Fitness, Fleet, and City Hall) Tiger Natural Gas has quoted a mark up over
the index price of $0.03 lower than the previous years that was $0.05.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve awarding lowest bid in the amount of $0.03 per dekatherm for the purchase of Natural Gas for
8 facilities, (Muskogee Civic Center, Central Fire Department, Pollution Control Plant, Water Treatment
Plant, Muskogee Teen Center, Muskogee Swim and Fitness, Fleet, and City Hall) to Tiger Natural
Gas, Inc., or take any other necessary action.

Fiscal Impact

FUNDING SOURCE:
100-3510-415-4310

Attachments
Tabulation Sheet 
Cost Savings Analysis 







   
Regular City Council 4.           
Meeting Date: 09/11/2017  
Initiator: Tish Callahan, Planning Asst.
Department: Planning
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval of awarding contracts to the best bidder, Dirt Work Done Right, LLC, in the amount of $2.50
per square foot for demolition of dilapidated structures, and low bidder Whittinghill Disposal Service,
Inc., in the amount of $15.95 per cubic yard for the trash, junk, and debris clearance project under the
Community Development Block Grant Demolition and Clearance Projects Bid Group 38, or take other
necessary action. (Tish Callahan)

BACKGROUND:
The City received a total of two (2) bids for the demolition and clearance project Bid Group 38 that were
opened and read aloud on July 27, 2017 at 2:00 p.m. 

Dirt Work Done Right, LLC $2.50 sf – Demo $28.00 cubic yd junk removal

Whittinghill Disposal Service, Inc $2.35 sf – Demo $15.95 cubic yd junk removal

The project consists of the demolition and removal of remaining debris of dilapidated structures and the
cleanup and disposal of trash, junk and debris from scattered sites using the Community Development
Block Grant funds. Bid Advertisement notices were mailed to twenty-two contractors and the
Advertisement for Bidders was published in the local newspaper two consecutive weeks; twenty days
prior to the bid opening date as required. A  statement of facts as to previous experience in performing
work of the same character and magnitude, with a specific request for a list of previous demolition
projects with the contact information of references was requested. After review of the submitted items
from Whittinghill Disposal Services, Inc., there are concerns with a federally funded grant project of this
magnitude and the extensive reporting and the environmental agencies requirements that there were
not any specific demolition projects referenced to indicate specific experience in completing a
demolition project. Therefore, the recommendation is to award the Demolition project to Dirt Work
Done Right, LLC and the Clearance project to Whittinghill Disposal Services, Inc.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Award contract to Dirt Work Done Right, LLC, in the amount of $2.50 per square foot for demolition of
dilapidated structures, and award contract to Whittinghill Disposal Service, Inc., in the amount of $15.95
per cubic yard for the trash, junk, and debris clearance project under the Community Development Block
Grant Demolition and Clearance Projects Bid Group 38.
 

Fiscal Impact

FUNDING SOURCE:
Community Development Block Grant Funds –$134,308
City Match as budgeted - $100,000 demolition; $34,308 clearance.



Attachments
BID TABULATION GROUP 38 
Agreement Demolition Bid Group 38 
Advertisement for Bidders_38 





AGREEMENT
 

OWNER:    
CITY OF MUSKOGEE   
P.O. Box 1927 
Muskogee, OK   74402 
(918) 684-6232 

 

 
CONTRACTOR: 
 

PROJECT: CDBG BID GROUP 38 DEMOLITION 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated as of the _____    day of                  , 2017 by and 
between the OWNER and CONTRACTOR each above identified and collectively 
referred to as the Parties. 
 

WITNESSETH:  That for and in consideration of the payments, covenants and 
agreements stated herein, the Parties agree as follows: 
 
Article 1.  SCOPE OF PROJECT. 
 

1.1  CONTRACTOR shall demolish and remove all structures on each of the 
properties as given by City of Muskogee staff.  Such demolition and removal of said 
structures on each property shall include the following: removal of the foundation, other 
hard surfaces, landscaping items (not otherwise exempted herein), and non-attached 
buildings.  

 
1.2  CONTRACTOR shall remove any basement, cellar, cistern or dry well on 

the property after removing any standing water from within the same.  
 
1.3  CONTRACTOR shall remove all trees which appear to be dead or 

diseased, and shall trim and discard trimmings from other trees on the property. 
 
1.4  CONTRACTOR shall remove all shrubs or other foliage from the property 

not otherwise excluded by written notification from the owner.  
 
1.5 CONTRACTOR shall remove and discard all fencing, if the same exists, 

on the property only after consent from adjacent property owner. 
 
1.6  CONTRACTOR shall grade each property for proper drainage, leaving no 

low areas, and shall use topsoil suitable to sustain growth of native grasses and plants.  
 
1.7  CONTRACTOR shall take care in leaving all curbs and sidewalks in the 

public right of way undamaged; however, CONTRACTOR shall replace a sidewalk in a 
manner which matches, as closely as possible, the existing sidewalk.  

 



AGREEMENT_38 

2 

1.8  CONTRACTOR shall deposit any material to be discarded from the lot, 
including but not limited to, concrete, asphalt, wood, rock or brick in the Muskogee 
Landfill as required by City Code 82-741. Any material which CONTRACTOR desires to 
salvage shall be removed from the property no later than completed period of 
performance set forth in Article 2.   

 
1.9  CONTRACTOR shall ensure that, during any period of performance of any 

duties identified in this Article, any and all streets, alleys or public ways shall remain 
clear of mud, debris and open to traffic. Should a street or other public way require 
temporary closure to perform any work in the opinion of the OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR jointly, the CONTRACTOR shall use proper signage to designate the 
closed area of any public way. 

 
1.10 CONTRACTOR shall at all time’s keep the premises in an orderly fashion 

and have all debris removed within seven (7) days of commencement of demolition or 
barricade and secure the property by physical and visual means to the Building 
Inspector’s satisfaction until such time as work may be resumed. 

 
1.11 CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for notification to the proper utility 

companies for disconnection and/or removal of any utility service connections affected 
by any Work and have sewer capped by a licensed plumbing contractor PRIOR TO 
DEMOLITION COMMENCING.  

 
 1.12  CONTRACTOR hereby guarantees the work and materials herein 
provided, for a period of one year from the date of final inspection of all work required by 
this contract. It is further agreed that the CONTRACTOR will furnish CITY with all 
manufacturers and suppliers’ written guarantee and warranties covering materials and 
equipment furnished under this contract. Contractor shall maintain a file of pre and post 
photographic evidence of each structure demolished for the same one (1) year period 
and supply City with same. 

 
Article 2.  CONTRACT TIME. 
 

2.1 The Work described in Article 1 shall be completed by NINETY (90) 
consecutive calendar days after the date when the Contract Time commences to run. 
Contract Time will commence to begin no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the 
date of Contract Award. Completed means the time in which the Project has progressed 
to the point where, in the opinion of the OWNER or their qualified designee, the Project 
is complete in accordance with this Agreement, so that the property can be utilized for 
the purposes intended. 

 
2.2 Liquidated Damages. OWNER and CONTRACTOR recognize that time is of 

the essence of this Agreement and that the OWNER will suffer financial loss if the Work 
is not substantially complete within the time specified in paragraph 2.1 above. They also 
recognize the delays, expense and difficulties involved with a legal or arbitration 
preceding the actual loss suffered by the OWNER if the Work is not substantially 



AGREEMENT_38 

3 

complete on time. Accordingly, instead of requiring any such proof, OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty) 
CONTRACTOR shall pay OWNER $100 for each calendar day that expires after the 
time specified in paragraph 2.1 for substantial completion until the Work is substantially 
complete. 

 
Article 3.  CONTRACT PRICE. 
 

3.1 OWNER shall pay CONTRACTOR for performance of the Project in 
accordance with the PAYMENT PROCEDURES in Article 4 as follows:  
 

 
1. Demolition and removal of remaining debris of dilapidated structures: 
 

 AMOUNT OF BID $    PER SQUARE FOOT 
 

           
(Writing) 

 
  
 
 2. Removal of trash, junk and debris  

 
 AMOUNT OF BID $    PER CUBIC YARD 

 
          

(Writing) 
 
Article 4.  PAYMENT PROCEDURES. 
 

CONTRACTOR shall submit Claims for Payment to the CITY OF MUSKOGEE 
Planning Department to process Claims for payment. 
 

4.1  PROGRESS PAYMENTS: OWNER will make progress payments on the 
basis of the CONTRACTOR'S Claims for Payment as recommended by the CITY OF 
MUSKOGEE PLANNING DEPARTMENT and approved by the Owner’s respective 
governing bodies, on or about the first day of each month during demolition as provided 
below. All progress payments will be on the basis of the progress of the Work.  
 

4.2  Prior to Completion of each individual structure demolition, progress 
payments will be in an amount equal to, but not to exceed 50 percent of the Project 
completed.   

 
4.3   Upon Completion, upon satisfactory final inspection by the City of 

Muskogee Building Inspector of the individual property, OWNER will pay an amount 
sufficient to increase total payments to CONTRACTOR to 100% of the demolition cost, 



AGREEMENT_38 

4 

less such amounts as the CITY OF MUSKOGEE PLANNING DEPARTMENT shall 
determine for completion of punch list items, if any. 

 
4.4  Final Payment.  Upon satisfactory final inspection by the City of Muskogee 

Building Inspector of all properties under contract, and after a claim for payment by 
CONTRACTOR has been made, OWNER will make payment of the remainder of the 
Contract Price to CONTRACTOR within thirty days after the Claim for payment has 
been received.  
 
Article 5.  CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS. 

 
In order to induce OWNER to enter into this Agreement CONTRACTOR makes 

the following representations. 
 

5.1  CONTRACTOR has familiarized himself with the nature and extent of the 
Contract Documents, Project locality, with all local conditions and federal, state and 
local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations that in any manner may affect cost, 
progress or performance of the Project. 

 
 

Article 6.  INCORPORATION OF SEPARATE DOCUMENTS. 
 

In addition to the terms set forth herein, the OWNER and CONTRACTOR agree 
that the following documents are incorporated and made part of this Agreement.  
 

6.1  Claim or Invoice Affidavit 

6.2  Certificate of Non-Segregated Facilities 

6.3  Certificate of Non-Discrimination 

6.4  Equal Employment Opportunity 

6.5  Contractor Section 3 Plan Format 

6.6  State of Oklahoma Hold Harmless Clause 

6.7  Certificate of Compliance with Air and Water Acts 

6.8 Special Conditions Pertaining to Hazards, Safety Standards and Accident 

Prevention 

 6.9 Performance Bond (In the form of a Surety Bond or Cashier’s Check) 

 
Article 7.  DEFAULT 
 

7.1 If either party fails to comply with any term, condition or duty to the other 
as specified in this Agreement, that party may be in default. The non-defaulting party 
may then, at its sole option declares this Agreement in breach and suspend any future 
performance or tender of any monies due. Provided, no breach shall be declared, nor 
performance suspended, until the party in default is given notice of the same and a 
reasonable time, not exceeding thirty (30) days, to cure the default. However, this 



AGREEMENT_38 

5 

provision is not intended to waive any rights held by a party to payment or obligations 
due to the other, prior to the breach.  
 
Article 8. INSURANCE 
 
 8.1  During the term of the Agreement, the CONTRACTOR shall provide, pay 
for, and maintain, with companies satisfactory to the OWNER, the types of insurance 
described herein.  All insurance shall be from responsible insurance companies eligible 
to do business in the State of Oklahoma.  All liability policies (except professional 
liability and worker’s compensation and employer’s liability policies) shall provide that 
the OWNER is named additional insured as to the operations of CONTRACTOR. 
 
 8.2  CONTRACTOR shall provide the OWNER the following insurance: 
 

(1) Worker's compensation.  CONTRACTOR shall maintain, during the term 
of the Contract, worker's compensation insurance as prescribed by the 
laws of the State of Oklahoma.    

 
(2) Commercial general liability insurance.  CONTRACTOR shall maintain 

during the term of this Agreement sufficient commercial general liability 
Insurance to protect itself and any additional insured(s) from claims for 
bodily injury, including death, as well as from claims from property 
damages or loss, which may arise from activities, omissions and 
operations under this Agreement, whether such activities, omissions and 
operations be by the CONTRACTOR or by anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by or acting on behalf of or to the benefit of them.  The 
amounts of such insurance shall be not less than the OWNER’S 
maximum liability under the Governmental Tort Claims Act, 51 O.S. § 151 
et seq., as amended from time to time and currently are: 

 
a. Property damage liability in an amount not less than Twenty-Five 

Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) per claimant for loss, damage to or 
destruction of property, including but not limited to consequential 
damages arising out of a single accident or occurrence. 

 
b. All other liability in an amount not less than One Hundred Twenty-

Five Thousand Dollars ($125,000.00) per claimant for claims 
including death, personal injury, and all other claims arising out of a 
single accident or occurrence. 

 
c. Single occurrence or accident liability in an amount not less than 

One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for any number of claims 
arising out of a single accident or occurrence. 

 



AGREEMENT_38 

6 

d. A rolling demolition bond shall also be posted with The City Clerk in 
an amount not less than Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) for any 
damage to city infrastructure. This may be in the form of cash or 
surety bond. 

 
Note:  If commercial general liability coverage is written in a "claims-made" form, 
CONTRACTOR shall also provide tail coverage that extends a minimum of one year 
from the expiration of this Agreement. 
 
Article 9.   MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
 9.1  HOLD HARMLESS CLAUSE. This agreement is made upon the express 
condition that the OWNER, their agents and employees, shall be free from all liabilities 
and claims for damages and/or suits for or by reason of any injury, or death to any 
person, or destruction, damages, or theft of any property owned, operated, or otherwise 
utilized by CONTRACTOR, its agents, vendors, employees or third parties, from any 
cause or causes whatsoever, while in or upon said premises, or any part thereof during 
the term of this Agreement or occasioned by any occupancy or use of said premises or 
activity carried on by the CONTRACTOR its vendors, and/or employees in connection 
herewith. CONTRACTOR hereby covenants and agrees to indemnify, defend, save and 
hold harmless the City, its agents and employees from all liabilities, charges, expenses 
and costs on account of or by reason of any such injuries, deaths, liabilities, claims, 
suits or losses, however occurring, or damages, demands, costs, and attorneys fees 
growing out the same.   
  

9.2  No assignment of this Agreement is permitted by CONTRACTOR.  
 
9.3  OWNER and CONTRACTOR each binds himself, his partners, 

successors, assigns and legal representatives to the other party hereto, in respect to all 
covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents. 

 
9.4  The OWNER and CONTRACTOR acknowledge that during the term of 

this Agreement change orders may be required. As such, the parties agree to negotiate 
in good faith when the same is required, and that if approved by the respective parties, 
any change order shall be subject to the same terms and conditions as set forth herein. 

 
9.5 Any delays caused by third parties are NOT the responsibility of the 

OWNER. 
 



AGREEMENT_38 

7 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Agreement in 
THREE (3) counterparts each of which shall be deemed an original on the date first 
above written.  All portions of the Separate Documents in Article 6 have been signed or 
identified by OWNER and CONTRACTOR as applicable. 

 
OWNER: 

CITY OF MUSKOGEE 

_______________________________ 
John R. Coburn, MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Tammy Tracy, CITY CLERK      (Seal) 
 
APPROVED BY CITY COUNCIL ON                                    , 2017 
 
 
Approved as to form and legality this ________ day of _____________________, 2017. 
 
________________________________________ 
Roy D. Tucker, CITY ATTORNEY 

CONTRACTOR 
 

       
[Name]      

 
       

 
By:       

 
Title: Owner       

     
Address for giving notices:  
 
OWNER: 
City of Muskogee 
229 W. Okmulgee 
P.O. Box 1927 
Muskogee, Oklahoma 74402 
BUS: (918) 684-6232 
FAX: (918) 684-6233 

Address for giving notices:  
 

CONTRACTOR: 

 



ADVERTISMENT FOR BIDDERS_BID GROUP 38 

PUBLISHED IN THE MUSKOGEE DAILY PHOENIX ON 
JULY 7 AND JULY 14, 2017 

CITY OF MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA 
 

ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDDERS 
 
Notice is hereby given that the City of Muskogee will receive sealed bids in the Office 
of the City Clerk, Muskogee Municipal Building, 229 West Okmulgee, Muskogee, 
Oklahoma, 74401, up to 2:00 p.m. ON THURSDAY JULY 27, 2017 for furnishing all 
labor and materials and performing all work necessary for the following project: 
  

FURNISHING ALL LABOR AND MATERIALS AND PERFORMING 
ALL WORK NECESSARY FOR THE DEMOLITION AND REMOVAL 

OF REMAINING DEBRIS OF DILAPIDATED STRUCTURES AND 
CLEARANCE OF JUNK AND DEBRIS IN SCATTERED 

LOCATIONS IN MUSKOGEE. 
 

Bidders must bid on all items of the contract at a per square foot basis and 
debris removal will be bid on a per cubic yard basis. The work under this contract 
will be awarded as a single contract to the lowest responsible bidder for the work.  No 
bid may be withdrawn for at least FORTY-FIVE (45) days after the scheduled closing 
time for receipt of bids. 
 
All bids must include assurances that the following provisions will be complied with: 
1. Federal Labor Standards Provisions, US Department of Labor, 29 CFR 5; 
2. Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1974, as amended; 

12 U.S.C. 1701U, which requires that, to the greatest extent feasible, 
opportunities for training and employment be given lower-income residents of 
the project area and contracts for work in substantial part by persons residing 
in the area of the project; 

3. Section 109 of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, which 
assures that no person shall, on the grounds of race, color, natural origin or 
sex, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of or be 
subjected to discrimination; 

4. Certification of No-Segregated Facilities, which assures the bidder does not 
maintain or provide any segregated facilities; 

5. Equal Opportunity Provisions – Executive Order 11246, as amended, which 
assures non-discrimination; 

6. Minority Business Enterprise and Women Business Enterprise provisions 
which encourage minority-owned business and women-owned businesses to 
bid on the project; 

7. Assurances that surety companies executing bonds appear on the Treasury 
Department’s list and are authorized to transact business in the State where 
the project is located. 

 



ADVERTISMENT FOR BIDDERS_BID GROUP 38 

Bids shall be made in accordance with the Bid Specifications on file and available for 
examination in the Purchasing Department.  Prospective bidders may obtain copies 
from the Purchasing Department, Third Floor, 229 West Okmulgee, Muskogee, OK 
74401 (918) 684-6212. It is also available on the City’s website under the Purchasing 
Department RFP, RFQ & BIDS. Each proposal must be accompanied by a Bidder's 
Bond, or Cashier's Check upon any solvent Bank or Trust Company, payable without 
reserve to the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma, in an amount of $5,000 (FIVE Thousand 
Dollars).  Bid security of the two low bidders will be retained until approval of contract 
and execution of satisfactory bonds by the successful bidder or until other disposition 
on the bids is made. 
 
The bonds required for the project will be a Performance Bond in the amount of 
$50,000.   
 
The bidder (Proposer) must supply all the information required by the bid and 
proposal form including completion of affidavits or their bid will be considered 
incomplete and therefore rejected. 
 
The City may request of any bidder, before their bid is considered for award, that they 
submit a statement of facts as to their previous experience in performing work of the 
same character and magnitude, as to their business and technical organization, and 
financial resources to be used in performing the contemplated work.  Each bidder 
must have such information, together with a recent financial statement, available 
upon request. 
 
Contractors MUST BE registered in the System for Award Management (SAM), 
located at www.sam.gov, after obtaining a DUNS number for their entity.  
 
The City of Muskogee reserves the right to evaluate bids, to reject any or all bids, and 
to waive any informality in any bid. 
 
       City of Muskogee, Oklahoma 
 
       Donnie Wimbley 
       Purchasing Manager 

http://www.sam.gov/


   
Regular City Council 5.           
Meeting Date: 09/11/2017  
Submitted For:  Drew Saffell, Public Works  Initiator: Drew Saffell, Airport

Manager
Department: Assistant City Manager
Staff Information Source: Drew Saffell 

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval of the use of fiscal year 2014 Capital Improvement sales tax funds in the amount of
$202,434.00 for airport projects, repairs, and refurbishment, or take other necessary action. (Drew
Saffell)   
 

BACKGROUND:
Fiscal Year 2014 Capital Improvement sales tax funds in the amount of $250,000.00 were designated
for the purpose of "airport development and improvement."  $47,566.00 has been approved by Council
for use as the 6% sponsor share of the Runway 13-31, Aircraft Parking Apron, and Taxiway Bravo
rehabilitation project.  Airport staff is requesting approval to use the remaining $202.434.00 for airport
hangar, building, airfield, pavement surface, lighting, and other necessary airport improvement and
rehabilitation projects both airside and landside.This was approved by the Airport Board.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the use of Fiscal Year 2014 Capital Improvement sales tax funds in the amount of $202,434.00
for airport projects, repairs, and refurbishment. 

Fiscal Impact

FUNDING SOURCE:
Fiscal Year 2014 Capital Improvement sales tax funds in the amount of $202,434.00 designated for
"airport development and improvement."

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



   
Regular City Council 6.           
Meeting Date: 09/11/2017  
Initiator: Tammy Tracy, City Clerk

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Hold a Public Hearing and take action on the approval of Ordinance 4026-A to close North 5th Street
located between Okmulgee Avenue and Broadway Avenue, more particularly described in the
Ordinance, providing for severability and setting an effective date, or take other necessary action. (Gary
D. Garvin)

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:
NORTH FIFTH STREET LYING BETWEEN BLOCK 12, AND BLOCK 9, IN THE ORIGINAL
TOWN SITE OF MUSKOGEE (MOT), CITY OF MUSKOGEE, ACCORDING TO THE OFFICIAL
PLAT THEREOF, LOCATED IN THE NORTHWEST QUARTER (NW1/4) OF SECTION 26,
TOWNSHIP 15 NORTH, RANGE 18 EAST, MUSKOGEE COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA.

BACKGROUND:
The applicant, United States of America C/O General Services Administration, is requesting approval to
close North 5th Street located between Okmulgee Avenue and Broadway Avenue. The applicants have
stated the closure is necessary to mitigate a vulnerability (security issue) identified by the United States
Marshals Service.  The closure would increase the setback distance between the structure (Federal Court
House) and vehicular traffic on the eastside.  If approved, the street would be closed for
vehicular traffic, but remain open for pedestrian use.   

Planning Commission tabled this item on February 21, 2017 stating they had some concerns with the
landscaping proposal for 5th Street.   They requested a new proposal that displayed a "park like space". 
Stan McCurry, General Operations Manager for GSA, stated he would meet with the State Historic
Preservation Office (SHPO) and make a more detailed proposal at a later date.  SHPO has stated that
they do not approve projects for federal agencies, however GSA has a financial and legal responsibility
to comply with the National Historic Preservation Act.  GSA submitted a new plan which showed an
additional seven (7) sidewalk planters along 5th Street.  Upon review by Planning Commission there
was still concerns about the street surface continuing to be asphalt.  The item was tabled again by
Planning Commission on July 3, 2017 to allow GSA additional time to make changes to the surface of
the street.  Attached is the latest revisions to the landscaping/construction plans.

As previously stated, no objections were received from the utility companies and members of the
Subdivision Review Committee, with the exception of the Fire Department.  The Fire Chief requested
removable bollards instead of concrete planters on both Broadway and Okmulgee Avenue.  The
removable bollards would allow the fire department's ladder truck access to the front of the building. 
Subdivision Review Committee recommended approval, subject to the removable bollards being
installed. Construction plans submitted by the applicant show the bollards to be installed as per
recommended by the Fire Chief.

 

RECOMMENDED STAFF ACTION:



RECOMMENDED STAFF ACTION:
Approve the Ordinance to close North 5th Street between Okmulgee and Broadway Avenue.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Ordinance 4026-A 
Landscaping/Construction Plans 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 4026-A              

 

AN ORDINANCE CLOSING NORTH FIFTH STREET LYING BETWEEN 

BLOCK 12, AND BLOCK 9, IN  THE ORIGINAL TOWN SITE OF MUSKOGEE 

(MOT),  CITY OF MUSKOGEE, ACCORDING TO THE OFFICIAL PLAT 

THEREOF, LOCATED IN THE NORTHWEST QUARTER (NW1/4) OF 

SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 15 NORTH, RANGE 18 EAST, MUSKOGEE 

COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA; AND PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY. (United States of America c/o General Services Administration, 

Petitioner) 

 

WHEREAS, a petition has been filed by the property owner requesting said North 5th 

Street, as stated, be closed and discontinued from public use, and; 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Muskogee Planning & Zoning Commission in a meeting held July 

3, 2017, did approve the petition and did recommend approval of official action by closing a public 

Right of Way as stated; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE  IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA,  

 

Section 1: THAT NORTH FIFTH STREET LYING BETWEEN BLOCK 12, AND 

BLOCK 9, IN THE ORIGINAL TOWN SITE OF MUSKOGEE (MOT),  CITY OF MUSKOGEE, 

ACCORDING TO THE OFFICIAL PLAT THEREOF, LOCATED IN THE NORTHWEST 

QUARTER (NW1/4) OF SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 15 NORTH, RANGE 18 EAST, 

MUSKOGEE COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA.; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 

is hereby closed, annulled and discontinued from public use. 

 

AND that this change be so ordered and declared by the City Council. 

 

Section 2: REPEALER.    All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in direct 

conflict herewith are repealed to the extent of the conflict only. 

 

Section 3: SEVERABILITY.  Should any part, section, subsection, sentence, 

provision, clause, or phrase hereof be held invalid, void, or unconstitutional for any reason, such 

holding shall not render invalid, void, or unconstitutional any other section, subsection, sentence, 

provision, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance, and the same are deemed severable for this purpose. 

 

Section 4: EFFECTIVE DATE.  This ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after 

date of publication. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE, 

OKLAHOMA THIS 11TH DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 



Ordinance No. _____________ 

 

 

                  

___________________________________ 

               JOHN R. COBURN, MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

TAMMY L. TRACY, CITY CLERK 

(SEAL) 

 

 

 

APPROVED as to form and legality this ____ day of ___________________, 2017. 

 

 

_____________________________________________ 

ROY D. TUCKER, CITY ATTORNEY 

 









   
Regular City Council 7.           
Meeting Date: 09/11/2017  
Submitted For: Rex Eskridge, Police  Initiator: Chad Farmer,

Deputy Chief
Department: Police
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Consider approval to accept the State of Oklahoma Emergency Management Performance Grant
(EMPG) in the amount of $25,000 to be used to fund Emergency Management Operations, or take other
necessary action. (Chad Farmer)

BACKGROUND:
This is a reoccurring annual grant that the City receives. The EMPG grant is a 50% local 50% state
performance based grant. Based on the City's budget allocation to the Emergency Management
Department, the grant award will be $25,000.

The monies from this grant will be used in furtherance of the Emergency Management operations for
the City. This includes All Hazard, Whole Community Planning, current Emergency Operations Plan,
Hazard Mitigation Plan, and NIMS compliance. The EMPG program encourages the development of a
comprehensive emergency preparedness system for all hazards by the State and local governments.

See attached FY 2017 Emergency Management Program Grant Agreement.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approval to accept the grant.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
2017 EMPG 
























































	Agenda
	___6751
	    08-28-2017 ccmin
	_ 1.  _C.1.__6743
	    Claims 8.17.17 - 8.30.17
	_ 2.  _C.2._Approval of Purchase of Gradall Telescoping Excavator from Kirby Smith Machinery, Inc. in the amount of $342,500.60
	    Gradall Quote
	    NJPA Certification
	_ 3.  _C.3._3rd Party Natural Gas Purchase
	    Tabulation Sheet
	    Cost Savings Analysis
	_ 4.  _C.4._CDBG Demolition Contract Award
	    BID TABULATION GROUP 38
	    Agreement Demolition Bid Group 38
	    Advertisement for Bidders_38
	_ 5.  _C.5._Use of Fiscal Year 2014 Capital Improvement sales tax funds for airport improvement and rehabiltiation projects 
	_ 6.  _C.6._GSA - 5th Street Closure
	    Ordinance 4026-A
	    Landscaping_Construction Plans
	Regular_ 7.  _C.7._FY 2017 EMPG Grant
	    2017 EMPG

